
 Northern Lakes

Community Mental Health Authority

Board of Directors  Special Meeting 

September 26, 2024

Stacy Maiville
Cross-Out



The Northern Lakes Community Mental Health Authority Board will meet on September 26, 
2024 105 Hall Street, Traverse City, MI 49684 & Virtually

Time      Item #  

1:30 p.m.      1  Opening: 
• Confirm Quorum and Pledge of Allegiance 
• Approval of Agenda
• Conflict of Interest 

1:35 p.m.  2 Public Comment (May be limited to three minutes by Board Chair) 

1:40 p.m.  3 FY25 Proposed Budget 
Health Insurance Discussion 

Kevin Hartley, Chief Financial Officer 

2:00 p.m.  4 Unfinished Business: 
• Governance Policy - Vote 

2:30 p.m.  5 Adjourn 

NEXT MEETING:   October 17, 2024 – Traverse City  

* Action Items   If anyone needs accommodations call:  231-942-737

tel:+18102589588,,453356557


 

  



 



 

Provider Network Contract Budget
October 1, 2024 through September 30, 2025

FY25
Provider Network Category Budget

Houghton Lake Drop In - Drop In Centers 89,958$              
Kandu Island - Drop In Centers 150,693$           
Contracted Clinical Services - OBRA Screening 285,144$           
Contracted Clinical Services - Behavior Treatment 189,126$           
Client Specific Contract - Partial Day 253,282$           
Client Specific Contract - Residential 223,432$           
Client Specific Contract - MCTT & ACT Teams 40,290$              
Client Specific Contract - Emgcy Serv/Outpatient 1,648$                 
Client Specific Contract - DD CSM Team 2,837$                 
Client Specific Contract - Managed Care 121$                     
Client Specific Contract - Club Cadillac 77$                        
Contr Psych's - Med Clinic 1,065,828$       
Client Transportation - Partial Day 641,027$           

Total Clinical Contract Providers (less grant activity) 2,943,464$       

Autism Services - Partial Day 3,665,672$       
Autism Services - Residential 328,298$           
Autism Services - Emgcy Serv/Outpatient 8,052$                 
Autism Services - DD CSM Team 56,231$              

Total Autism Providers 4,058,253$       

Hope Network - Partial Day 996,549$           
Hope Network - Residential 2,261,285$       
Hope Network - MCTT & ACT Teams 16,004$              
Hope Network - Emgcy Serv/Outpatient 5,516$                 
Hope Network - DD CSM Team 2,590$                 
Hope Network - PT/OT/ST Only 444$                     
R.O.O.C. Inc - Partial Day 71,672$              
R.O.O.C. Inc - Residential 582,054$           
Grand Traverse Industries - Partial Day 884,646$           
Grand Traverse Industries - Residential 1,172,814$       

Total Daytime Providers 5,993,573$       

Community Inpatient Hospital - Inpatient 5,722,829$       
Crisis Residential - Residential 903,755$           
County - State Fac - Inpatient - State 329,567$           
County - Forensic Ctr - Inpatient - State 199,847$           

Total Inpatient Providers / State Hospital Inpatient 7,155,999$       

Self Determination - Residential 1,958,235$       
Self Determination - DD CSM Team 7,041$                 

Total Fiscal Intermediary Providers 1,965,276$       

Child and Family Services - MIC Client Support Service 260,823$           
Child and Family Services - Residential 3,472$                 
Child and Family Services - Mobile Crisis 164,971$           

Total Fiscal Intermediary Providers 429,266$           

Northern Lakes CMH



Provider Network Contract Budget - Continued 

 

  

M.I. Residential Contracts - Residential 1,518,163$       
Residential Contracts - Residential 10,742,149$    
Beacon Specialized Living Center - Residential 3,639,098$       
Beacon Specialized Living Center - MCTT & ACT Teams 7,220$                 
Beacon Specialized Living Center - Emgcy Serv/Outpatient 2,146$                 
Beacon Specialized Living Center - Behavior Treatment 869$                     
Lake Shore - Residential 673,858$           
Summerfield - Residential 591,235$           
East Bay - Residential 440,020$           
Lincoln House - Residential 443,339$           
Fort Road - Residential 356,262$           
New Horizons - Residential 585,958$           
Elmwood - Residential 491,186$           
Cedar Valley Home - Residential 351,365$           
Hab Waiver Supports - Residential 1,123,515$       
Hab Waiver Supports - SIP Homes 131,586$           

Total Residential Providers 21,097,968$    

Community Living Supports - Partial Day 80,705$              
Community Living Supports - Residential 1,916,518$       
Community Living Supports - MCTT & ACT Teams 2,375$                 
MI Independent SIP  - SIP Homes 115,561$           
MI Independent SIP  - SIP Homes 184,455$           
MI Independent SIP  - SIP Homes 108,249$           
Spectrum SIP  - SIP Homes 195,347$           
Spectrum SIP  - SIP Homes 225,372$           
Spectrum SIP  - SIP Homes 207,818$           
Woodland TC Home - SIP Homes 142,871$           
Brickways - Residential 68,019$              

Total CLS Providers 3,247,290$       

46,891,090$    



Revenues 

Initial capitation estimates include $64,774,941 in Medicaid and $4,107.083 for Healthy 
Michigan. General Funds will be $2,955,487 and county local appropriations continue at 
the same amount of $1,026,740. Grants have been decreased due to the discontinuation of 
some not being utilized.  

Expenses – Directly Provided and Agency Oversight 

Personnel costs have decreased from the prior year’s budget by -$1.5 million mainly due to 
the elimination of Northern Health Care Management (NHCM) and the Integrated Health 
Clinic (IHC). Northern Lakes has absorbed a few NHCM and IHC sta  during this process. 
We do anticipate some NHCM expenses to continue into FY25 due to the amount of work 
required to close out FY24. Administrative contract projections have increased driven by 
crisis services, professional accounting and legal services. Direct operations increased 
based on trending expenses from FY24. Contractual services are now tracked as a separate 
cost center compared to the previous budgets. Transportation costs are projected to 
increase due to the expansion of our internal transportation services. Occupied space has 
been decreased from the previous budget year due to FY24 trends.  

Expenses – Contracted Providers 

Autism services are projected to increase by approximately $220,000. Contract clinical 
providers are expected to decrease from previous budget based on trending. Daytime 
activities increased by $800,000 based on expected utilization. Fiscal intermediary 
services expected to increase by $500,000. Inpatient services are projected to increase by 
$400,000. Residential contracts are expected to increase approximately $1,300,000 from 
the previous year’s budget due to utilization. The new Crisis Center with Munson includes 
contracted support sta  and lease beginning on December 1, 2024. Overall, our total 
budget has decreased from the prior year by -8.26 percent.  



Resolution – Exemption PA152 

 

Resolution to adopt the annual exemption option as set forth in 2011 Public Act 152, 
The Publicly Funded Health Insurance Contribution Act. 

 

WHEREAS, 2011 Public Act 152 (the “Act”) was passed by the State Legislature and signed 
by the Governor on September 24, 2011; 

WHEREAS, The Act contains three options for complying with the requirements of the Act; 

WHEREAS, the three options are as follows: 

1) Section 3 – “Hard Caps” Option – limits a public employer’s total annual health care 
costs for employees based on coverage levels, as defined in the Act; 

2) Section 4 – “80%/20%” Option – limits a public employer’s share of total annual 
health care costs to not more than 80%. This option requires an annual majority 
vote of the governing body; 

3) Section 8 – “Exemption” Option – a local unit of government, as defined in the Act, 
may exempt itself from the requirements of the Act by an annual 2/3 vote of the 
governing body. 

WHEREAS, Northern Lakes Community Mental Health Authority has decided to adopt the 
annual Exemption option as its choice of compliance under the Act; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED Northern lakes Community Mental Health Authority 
elects to comply with the requirements of 2011 Public Act 152, the Publicly Funded Health 
Insurance Act, by adopting the annual Exemption option for the medical benefit plan 
coverage year January 1, 2025 through December 31, 2025. 

 



1 

Northern Lakes Community Mental Health Authority     08/15/2024 
Board Governance Policies 

Preamble 

Northern Lakes Community Mental Health Authority (NLCMHA) was established under Public Act 258 of 1974 
as amended (Michigan Mental Health Code), and the 2003 and 2023 NLCMHA Enabling Agreements, 
respectively, as adopted by the member counties of Crawford, Grand Traverse, Leelanau, Missaukee, 
Roscommon, and Wexford.  

NLCMHA provides a comprehensive array of mental health, substance use disorders (SUD), and/or 
intellectual/developmental (IDD) services and supports in its member counties under the auspices of the 
NLCMHA Board of Directors (“NLCMHA Board”). It is the intent of the NLCMHA Board to assess and determine 
the mental health needs of the residents of the member counties and identify public and nonpublic services 
necessary to meet those needs as required under MCL 330.1226(1)(a).  

It is further the intent of the NLCMHA Board to ensure that the following minimum types and scopes of mental 
health services are provided to all age groups in the member counties: 

• Emergency intervention services.
• Prevention services.
• Outpatient services.
• Aftercare services.
• Day program and activity services.
• Public information services.
• Inpatient services.
• Community/caregiver services.

(R 330.2005 – R 330.2011; R 330.2013 – R 330.2014). 

Therefore, the following Governance Policies are adopted to govern the structure and operation of the NLCMHA 
Board, in order to properly perform the duties and responsibilities required by the Michigan Mental Health Code 
and the administrative rules governing community mental health services.  

SECTION 1 GOVERNANCE PROCESS 

1. Board Job Description
1.0.1  The NLCMHA Board derives its authority and powers and is created pursuant to the Mental Health

Code, MCL 330.1212, and shall fulfill its responsibilities and duties as provided by the Mental Health 
Code.  

1.0.2 The NLCMHA Board shall appoint and employ a Chief Executive Officer (CEO) in accordance with the 
Mental Health Code who shall meet the standards of training and experience established by the 
Department of Health and Human Services. The CEO shall serve at the pleasure of the NLCMHA 
Board pursuant to a formal employment agreement based on professional qualifications and ability 
to perform according to approved job specifications.  



2 

1.1 Board Member Code of Conduct 

The NLCMHA Board commits itself and its members to ethical, businesslike, and lawful conduct, including 
proper use of authority and appropriate decorum when acting as Board members. Conflict of interest is 
addressed in the Board By-laws and this policy.  

1.1.1   Members are expected to exercise their duties and responsibilities with integrity, collegiality, and 
care.  

1.1.2 Members must make attendance at all Board meetings a high priority.  
1.1.3  Members must be prepared to discuss the issues and business on the agenda and have read all 

background material relevant to those topics. 
1.1.4  Members will respect the confidentiality appropriate to issues of a sensitive nature. Members must not 

disclose identifiable information (with or without names) about Northern Lakes Community Mental 
Health Authority consumers, regardless of where this information was obtained from, without the 
informed consent of an authorized party. Members must comply with the continuity regulations of the 
 Michigan Mental Health Code, the Administrative Rule, and all other applicable laws and regulations. 

1.1.5     Members are expected to cooperate with and respect the opinions of fellow Board members, and     
leave personal prejudices out of all Board discussions, as well as support actions of the Board even 
when the Board member personally did not support the action taken.  

1.1.6 Members must place the interests of NLCMHA above personal interests. 
1.1.7 Members will represent NLCMHA in a positive and supportive manner at all times and in all places. 
1.1.8 Members are expected to show respect and courteous conduct in all Board and committee meetings. 
1.1.9 Members shall refrain from intruding on administrative issues that are the responsibility of 

management, except to perform the duties and responsibilities of the Board in accordance with the 
Michigan Mental Health Code. 

1.1.10   If a Member has a concern with another Member with regard to this Code of Conduct, the issue 
 should be directed in the following manner: 

1.1.10.1 If the issues involve a Member other than the Board Chairperson, the issues should be 
directed to the Board Chairperson. 

1.1.10.2 If the concern involves the Board Chairperson, the issue should be directed to the Vice 
Chairperson. 

1.1.10.3 If the concern involves both the Board Chairperson and the Vice Chairperson, the 
Member should select two other Members and direct the issue to them for review of the 
concern.  

1.1.11  If all attempts at an internal resolution of the concern have failed, then the Board Chairperson under 
 10.1 or the Board Vice Chairperson under 10.2 shall refer the manner to the applicable County Board 
 of Commissioners Chairperson for resolution under MCL 330.1224 of the Michigan Mental Health 

 Code.  
1.1.12  All Board members shall review this policy during their initial orientation and shall sign the NLCMH 

 Code of Conduct Declaration. This shall be repeated no less than annually. 

1.2 Annual Workplan 

To promote excellence in governance and to provide the CEO with timely policy guidance upon which to 
predicate management planning and budgeting, the NLCMHA Board shall, at the commencement of each new 
calendar year, conduct a needs assessment to determine the mental health needs of the residents of member 
counties and identify public and non-public services necessary to meet those needs. The Annual Workplan 
may include educational events, study sessions, stakeholder meetings, and presentations by experts in 



3 

relevant fields that are designed to provide Board members with the greatest possible insight into community 
needs, management planning, and budgeting. The Annual Workplan established by the Board shall make 
provisions:  

1.2.1  For a determination of the Board’s priorities for activities and programs during the calendar year; 
1.2.2  For a tentative schedule of programs, joint meetings, and study sessions; and  
1.1.3 For periodic review of monitoring data concerning progress in achieving the goals and objectives 

established by the Board. 

1.3 Location and Frequency.  Regular Board meetings shall be held on a monthly basis as provided in the 
following Table:  

Location Number of Meetings per Calendar Year 
Grand Traverse County 4 
Wexford  County 3 
Leelanau County 1 
Roscommon County 2 
Crawford County 2 

Meeting Times. Board meeting times shall be established at the time the Annual Calendar is completed.  Board 
meetings will be held in one location except during the months of November through March.  

1.4 Board Chair Functions 

The Chair ensures compliance with the Board Governance Policies, including, but not limited to, the Board 
Member Code of Conduct. 

Powers of the Chair 
The Chair:  
1.4.1 Limits consideration of issues to those properly before the Board and within the scope of its authority 

as set forth in Board Governance Policies; 
1.4.2 Ensures that Board deliberation is fair, open, thorough, timely, orderly, and on task; 
1.4.3 Exercises the procedural authority accorded the position of Chair by Roberts Rules of Order; 
1.4.4 Subject to the Bylaws, names, and charges ad hoc committees as more particularly provided in the 

Governance Policy on Board committees; 
1.4.5 When and to the extent authorized by the Board to do so, serves as a spokesperson for the Board to 

the media and the public concerning the positions taken on issues by the Board as a whole; and 
1.4.6 Rules on requests from members to attend outside conferences and meetings. 

Limits on the Powers of the Chair. The Chair shall not exercise the powers granted to the Chair hereunder for 
any of the following purposes: 
1.4.7 To preclude Board consideration of a decision to employ or terminate a CEO; 
1.4.8 To unilaterally amend or modify a Board Governance Policy; 
1.4.9 To supervise or direct the CEO with the exception of the power to grant a leave of absence provided 

the Board is notified of granting the request within eight hours of being granted. 
1.4.10   To publicly represent a personal position on an issue as that of the Authority.  

Delegation of the Powers of the Chair. Subject to the provisions of the Bylaws, the Chair may delegate the 



4 

powers of the Chair to one or more Board members, provided that the Chair remains accountable for the 
exercise of any powers so delegated. 

1.5 Governance Committees 

The Board Chair shall appoint members to the Board’s Standing Committees, Ad hoc committees, special 
committees, and task forces with the approval of the Board, all of which information shall be recorded in Board 
minutes. No Board committee shall have or exercise authority or jurisdiction exceeding that granted at the time 
of its creation without further action by the Board, and no Board committee may exercise authority or 
jurisdiction inconsistent with Board Governance Policies.  

Standing Committees. The Board shall have only those standing committees established herein. The 
membership and Chair shall serve at the pleasure of the Board Chair. Membership on standing committees, 
other than the Recipient Rights Advisory Committee, or other Board-created advisory committees, is limited to 
members of the Board.  

Recipient Rights Advisory Committee. The Board shall appoint a Recipient Rights Advisory Committee, which 
shall have and exercise those powers granted to such committees by the Michigan Mental Health Code. The 
Recipient Rights Advisory Committee shall hold its meetings in accordance with the Michigan Open Meetings 
Act. See also Policy 3.07A Recipient Rights Advisory Committee.  

Recipient Rights Appeals Committee. The Board designates the Recipient Rights Advisory Committee as the 
Recipient Rights Appeals Committee, which shall have and exercise those powers granted to such committees 
by the Michigan Mental Health Code. Recipient Rights Appeals Committee meetings are confidential, privileged, 
and separate from the Recipient Rights Advisory Committee and are not subject to the Michigan Open Meetings 
Act. See also 3.7B Recipient Rights Appeals Committee.  

Community Engagement and Services Committee. The Community Engagement and Services Committee is 
charged with: 
1.5.17   Assessing community needs; 
1.5.18   Developing a strategic plan to address assessed needs, priority populations, service design, goals and 

activities, infrastructure, and evaluation; 
1.5.19   Reviewing and recommending new program proposals and related contracts. 

Finance Committee. The Finance Committee is charged with: 
1.5.20 Assuring sound financial management of the Authority’s resources, including, but not limited to, 

review of monthly financial reports; 
1.5.21 Review periodically operating cash flows, liquidity position, and performance against budget and 

projections.  
1.5.22 Reviewing, recommending for approval, and monitoring the Authority’s budget and rate schedules; 

Recommending fiscal policy(ies) and procedures. 
1.5.23 Reviewing investments   
1.5.24 Monitor contracts to ensure budgetary and financial compliance.  
1.5.25   Review and make recommendations to the Board regarding the establishment and termination of 

banking and similar relationships. 
1.5.26 Monitor internal control processes. 
1.5.27 Review NLCMH investments, including investment objectives, strategy, reporting, and performance, 

and monitor execution against investment policy with Board approval. 



5 

Personnel Committee. The Personnel Committee is charged with: 
1.5.28 Assuring Authority’s compliance with federal and state laws and rules relating to employment; 
1.5.29 Establishing parameters and policies for staff salaries and benefits; 
1.5.30 Monitoring Authority’s compliance with staff development goals and activities; 
1.5.31 Recommending personnel policies and procedures; 
1.5.32 Review and monitor staffing needs and morale. 

Policy Committee. The Policy Committee is charged with developing and maintaining all policies and 
procedures, except for fiscal and personnel policies and procedures. 

Executive Committee. The Executive Committee shall be composed of the Board Chair, Vice-Chair, and 
Secretary. Actions taken by the Executive Committee shall be reported to the Board at the next regularly 
scheduled Board meeting.  
The Executive Committee is charged with: 
1.5.33 Developing a proposed agenda for meetings of the Board; 
1.5.34 Facilitating communication between Board Members and staff; 
1.5.35 Proposing goals and objectives.  
1.5.36 Minutes will be taken at all meetings and shared with the Board. 

Ad Hoc committees shall be appointed only to the extent and only for so long as necessary to assist the Board 
in carrying out its governance responsibilities.  An Audit Committee is established Ad Hoc Committee. 

Ad hoc Audit Committee. The Audit Committee is charged with: 
1.5.36 Presenting a selection of at least two independent outside auditors at least once every five years. Ensure 

that lead auditor Rotation will occur if the present auditor is one of the firms selected.  
1.5.37 Receiving and reviewing copies of the annual Management Representation Letter(s).  
1.5.38 Ensuring that results of the Annual Audit and Management Letter are reviewed with the Independent 

Auditor by the Board. 
1.5.39 Ensuring that the scope of an outside audit is sufficient to meet the legal obligations of the Authority 

and the responsibilities of the Board with respect to CMHSP financial matters; and 
1.5.40 Ensuring that outside audits are conducted in a timely manner.  

The Board Chair shall appoint an ad hoc committee with the approval of the Board as needed. Membership in 
an ad hoc committee is not limited to members of the Board. Where the membership of an ad hoc committee 
includes individuals who are not members of the Board, the minutes of the committee shall separately show 
the votes of each committee member.  

A Board ad hoc committee whose work product includes recommendations later adopted in whole or in part 
by the Board shall not thereafter be charged with monitoring the recommendations as adopted and 
implemented.  

1.5.A Recipient Rights Advisory Committee 

The Recipient Rights Advisory Committee, defined by the Michigan Mental Health Code as “a committee of a 
community mental health program services board” (sec. 330.110c) is a committee of the Northern Lakes 
Community Mental Health Authority, appointed by the Board of the Authority in accordance with section 757 
of the Michigan Mental Health Code. The Recipient Rights Advisory Committee shall hold its meetings in 



6 

accordance with the Michigan Open Meetings Act and shall act in accordance with the policies and by-laws of 
the Northern Lakes Community Mental Health Board Authority. Meetings shall be held according to the latest 
edition of Robert’s Rules of Order, Newly Revised. The annual list of meetings shall be presented to the 
Northern Lakes Community Mental Health Authority Board of Directors and be made available to individuals 
upon request. Northern Lakes Community Mental Health Authority Board policies and by-laws supersede 
Robert’s Rules of Order. A simple majority of the members must be present in person or by other visual 
electronic means to conduct a meeting.  

FUNCTIONS: 

The Recipient Rights Advisory Committee (RRAC) is granted the authority, in accordance with sections 755, 
757, and 774 of the Michigan Mental Health Code, to carry out the following functions: 

1.5A.1 Meet at least semiannually or as necessary to carry out its responsibilities. 
1.5A.2 Maintain a current list of members’ names to be made available to individuals upon request. 
1.5A.3 Maintain a current list of categories represented to be made available to individuals upon request. 
1.5A.4 Keep the NLCMHA Board of Directors informed of RRAC membership needs. 
1.5A.5 Protect the Office of Recipient Rights from pressures that could interfere with the impartial, even 

handed, and thorough performance of its functions. 
1.5A.6 Recommend candidates for Recipient Rights Director to the Chief Executive Officer, and consult with 

the Chief Executive Officer regarding any proposed dismissal of the Recipient Rights Director. 
1.5A.7 Serve in an advisory capacity to the Chief Executive Officer and the Recipient Rights Director. 
1.5A.8 Review and provide comments on the report submitted by the Chief Executive Officer to the 

Northern Lakes Community Mental Health Authority under section 755. 
1.5A.9 Review the process for funding the office of recipient’s rights and make recommendations 

concerning resources. 
1.5A.10 Receive education and training in recipient’s rights policies and procedures. 
1.5A.11 As designated by the Northern Lakes Community Mental Health Authority, serve as the Appeals 

Committee for a recipient’s appeal under section 784. 

MEMBERSHIP CRITERIA: In accordance with section 757 of the Michigan Mental Health Code, membership of 
the committee shall be broadly based so as to best represent the varied perspectives of the community 
mental health services program’s geographic area. At least 1/3 of the membership shall be primary consumers 
or family members, and of that 1/3, at least 1/2 shall be primary consumers.  

1.5A.12       For the purpose of consistency with the Michigan Mental Health Code, RRAC shall consist of a 
minimum of 7 members and a maximum of 9 members as the Board determines: at least 2 of 
which are primary consumers (currently receiving or have previously received services provided 
by or under contract with Northern Lakes Community Mental Health Authority), at least 1 of 
which is a family member of a consumer, 2 of which are Northern Lakes Community Mental 
Health Authority Board members  

1.5A.13      With the intent of best representing the varied perspectives of the Northern Lakes Community 
Mental Health Authority’s geographic area, of the 5 to 7 non-board members appointed to the 
committee, at least: one member shall reside in Wexford/Missaukee counties, one member shall 
reside in Grand Traverse/Leelanau counties, AND one member shall reside in Roscommon/Crawford 
Counties.  If a member or potential member cannot be identified from this area, others may be 
considered who are willing to serve from anywhere in the six counties. 

1.5A.14       None of the members shall be employed by the Michigan Department of Health and Human 



7 

Services/(DHHS), Northern Lakes Community Mental Health Authority, another community mental 
health services program, or a provider under contract with DHHS.  

APPOINTMENTS: Board members appointed to RRAC shall be appointed for 1-year terms by the Chairperson 
of the Northern Lakes Community Mental Health Authority, with appointments occurring each year at the 
May Board meeting. The Chairperson of the Board shall appoint one of the Board members as the 
Chairperson of RRAC. Non-board members appointed to RRAC shall be appointed for 3-year staggering terms. 
Committee members may reapply for multiple terms. The appointment process for non-board members shall 
occur as follows:  
1.5A.15     Board approved RRAC applications can be obtained at any time by verbal or written request to the 

NLCMH Executive Office or the Office of Recipient Rights.  
1.5A.16     If there is a vacant seat on the committee, either because a member’s term will/has expired or 

due to a member’s resignation or dismissal, the Northern Lakes Community Mental Health 
Authority will assure, via the Chief Executive Officer, that the vacancy is advertised in a timely and 
public manner.  

1.5A.17     All applications shall be turned in to the Executive Office. At the end of the posting period, 
the Executive Office shall forward all applications to the Executive Committee. 

1.5A.18     At the end of the posting period, the Executive Committee shall review all applications received 
and interview eligible applicants in a meeting or meetings held in accordance with the Open 
Meetings Act. The Executive Committee will provide a recommendation of candidates to the 
Northern Lakes Community Mental Health Authority for consideration of appointment to RRAC. 
Candidates will be invited to attend the Board meeting and will be recognized by and given an 
opportunity to address the Board prior to the Board’s decision for appointment.  

MEMBER EXPECTATIONS  
1.5A.19    Members are expected to attend all committee meetings or give notice in advance if an absence is 

unavoidable.  
1.5A.20    Three consecutive absences without notice will be considered resignation.  
1.5A.21    Members are expected to read all materials sent in advance of meetings and to be actively 

engaged in discussions at meetings.  
1.5A.22    Committee members will be paid per diem and mileage reimbursement in accordance with Board 

policy and procedure. 

1.5B Recipient Rights Appeals Committee 

The Northern Lakes Community Mental Health Authority Board of Directors has designated the Recipient 
Rights Advisory Committee as its Recipient Rights Appeals Committee, consistent with the Mental Health 
Code (PA 258 of 1974, MCL 330.1774). The Northern Lakes Community Mental Health Authority Office of 
Recipient Rights shall provide education and training in recipient rights policies and procedures to the Appeals 
Committee. The Appeals Committee may request consultation and technical assistance from the Michigan 
Department of Community Health Office of Recipient Rights. A simple majority of the members must be 
present in person or by other visual electronic means to conduct a meeting”.  

The Recipient Rights Appeals Committee shall do all of the following:  
1.5B.1 Review appeals in accordance with Northern Lakes Community Mental Health Authority Policy. 
1.5B.2 Ensure that any member who has a personal or professional relationship with an individual 
involved in an appeal shall abstain from participating in that appeal as a member of the committee.  
1.5B.3 Ensure that Appeals Reviews, as well as all documentation resulting from Appeals Reviews, are 
confidential and shall not be open to public disclosure or inspection, except as allowed by law.  



8 

1.6 Costs of Governance 

Prior Approval for Conferences. A member must obtain the prior approval of the Board Chair to attend 
conferences and meetings (other than Board or assigned committee meetings) as a condition of payment of per 
diem and reimbursement of expenses by the Authority. Subject to budget parameters, the Board Chair shall 
make a good-faith effort to ensure equal access among members to conferences, meetings, and activities.  

Transportation Expenses. The Authority shall reimburse Board members for reasonable transportation 
expenses incurred in the course and scope of Board-approved business. Where a member uses his or her own 
vehicle, the mileage eligible for reimbursement shall be the lesser of the actual mileage or the round-trip 
mileage to the member’s home. The reimbursement shall be at the same rate per mile applicable to employed 
members of the Workforce. Board members are encouraged to carpool with staff and other Board members 
when possible.  

Eligible Lodging Expenses. The Authority shall reimburse Board members for reasonable lodging expenses 
incurred in the course and scope of Board-approved business, but only if the claimed expense is eligible for 
reimbursement under the following criteria:  
1.6.1 The site of the meeting exceeds 100 miles from the member’s home; and 
1.6.2 To attend, the Board member must leave home prior to 6:00 a.m.; or 
1.6.3 Due to the event, the Board member cannot return to his or her home prior to 7:00 p.m.; or 
1.6.4 The event is scheduled for multiple days. 

Limitations on Reimbursement of Eligible Lodging Expenses. Reimbursement of an eligible lodging expense 
incurred by a Board member is limited to the following: 
1.6.5 Where the event is a conference, reimbursement shall not exceed the conference room rate at the 

facility where the conference is held. In the event rooms are not available at the conference facility, the 
amount reimbursed shall not exceed the cost of a comparable room in a comparable facility. Proof of 
unavailability of rooms at the conference facility is required.  

1.6.6 In all other cases, reimbursement shall not exceed the scheduled maximum allowable lodging expense 
applicable to Authority Employees. 

Meal Expenses. Meal expenses are eligible for reimbursement, subject to the following limitations:  
1.6.7 Reimbursement shall not exceed the scheduled maximum allowable meal expense applicable to 

employed members of the Workforce; and  
1.6.8 Reimbursement for the expense does not constitute income to the Board member under federal tax 

laws and regulations. 

Incidental Expenses. Incidental expenses for items such as office supplies and copying are reimbursable in the 
discretion of the Board Chair.  

Reimbursement Procedure. Claims for reimbursement are subject to the approval of the Board Chair or, in his 
or her absence, to the approval of the CEO. A Board member seeking reimbursement shall complete and submit 
to the Board Chair or CEO an expense voucher in approved form setting forth each expense for which 
reimbursement is claimed. The voucher must clearly disclose the business nature of the claimed expenses and 
must be accompanied by receipts. Claimed expenses not verified by receipts are not reimbursable. Vouchers 
may be submitted on a monthly basis at the member’s option. Expenses are not reimbursable if the claim, 
therefore, is not submitted by the earlier of 90 days after the expense is incurred or 5 days after the close of 
the fiscal year.  



9 

Budget Provisions for Cost of Governance. The Finance Committee shall ensure that the budget annually 
includes line items for Board per diem and for Board development and expenses.  

Discretionary Exceptions.  The CEO, Board Chair or the full Board may, for good cause shown, make exceptions 
to this Policy provided, however, that the fact of the exception is disclosed to the full Board at its next regular 
meeting. 

Board Member Recognition. Board members shall complete at least six months to be recognized when they 
leave the Board. A framed certificate of recognition identifying their term on the Board will be provided. The 
presentation will occur at the regular Board meeting one month prior to their leaving the Board or other 
arrangements will be made. Northern Lakes Community Mental Health Authority will also recognize former 
Board members through a plaque displayed at the administrative office.  

1.7 Board Member Conflict of Interest 

1.7.1 Any Board member who shall in any way be a contractor for purposes of remuneration from the Board 
or its contracting agencies will make full disclosure of such fact before discussion and will refrain from discussion 
of and voting on any Board decision relating to that relationship. 
1.7.2 Board members are prohibited from serving as employees of the Authority. 

SECTION 2 CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER (CEO) 

2.0 The CEO shall be appointed by the NLCMHA Board. The CEO shall be given the necessary authority and 
responsibility to operate all mental health services and carry out all policies as adopted by the NLCMHA Board  
or any of its committees to which it has delegated authority. The CEO shall represent the Board in all areas in  
which the Board has not formally designated some other person to act.  

SECTION 3 AMENDMENT AND ADOPTION 
3.0 Procedure 

These Governance Policies may be amended through the following procedure: 
3.0.1 In order for these Governance Policies to be amended, the Policy committee shall review and make 
recommendations to the Board at a regular meeting. 
3.0.2 Recommendations for revisions to the Governance Policies shall be presented by the Policy Committee 

at a regular meeting of the NLCMHA Board. Board Members or the CEO may make additional 
recommendations regarding amendments to the Governance Policies for consideration by the Policy 
Committee.   

3.0.3 A vote of at least ten (10) of the sixteen (16) member Board is required to amend these 
Governance Policies at any regular meeting of the Board, provided that written notice of the  
proposed amendment(s) shall be given to all Members not less than thirty (30) calendar days prior 
to such meeting. 

Rvsd 8/15/24 SM 


	REVISED NLCMHA Board Governance Policies - 081524.pdf
	SECTION 2 CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER (CEO)




